
Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
1 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

The Meeting of the Board of Public Works of the City of Onalaska was called to order at 6:30 1 
p.m. on Tuesday, September 3, 2019.  It was noted that the meeting had been announced and a 2 
notice posted at City Hall. 3 
 4 
Roll call was taken with the following members present:  Mayor Joe Chilsen, Ald. Diane Wulf, 5 
Ald. Kim Smith, City Engineer Jarrod Holter, Financial Services Director/Treasurer Fred 6 
Buehler 7 
 8 
Also Present:  City Administrator Eric Rindfleisch, Assistant City Engineer Kevin Schubert, Ald. 9 
Boondi Iyer 10 
 11 
Item 2 – Approval of minutes from previous meeting 12 
 13 
Motion by Ald. Wulf, second by Fred, to approve the minutes from the previous meeting as 14 
printed and on file in the City Clerk’s Office. 15 
 16 
On voice vote, motion carried. 17 
 18 
Item 3 – Public Input (limited to 3 minutes/individual) 19 
 20 
Ald. K. Smith called for anyone wishing to provide public input. 21 
 22 
Bobbie Tuomie 23 
333 French Road 24 
Onalaska 25 
 26 
“I oppose the review and consideration for the 15-minute parking restrictions along 3rd Avenue.  27 
I do not believe that that should be changed.  I think it should remain the way that it is.  There is 28 
already a loading zone for one section on that parcel the way that it is.  Because I work in the 29 
area, I notice that that loading zone is not always in use the way that it is.  I don’t see how adding 30 
two more spots is going to help any of the businesses in that area.  Thank you.” 31 
 32 
Paul Pappas 33 
915 Wilson Street 34 
Onalaska 35 
 36 
“I also have a business downtown.  I was the one who saw the gentleman painting the thing out 37 
there so he could have the 20-minute parking.  Of course, most of the time his tenants who are in 38 
that building are the ones who are parking there.  We have a parking problem downtown, and 39 
you’ve done a wonderful job on Irvin Street, except the disabilities committee I’ve been talking 40 
to – I’m not going to tell you where – says handicap parking with three restaurants downtown is 41 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
2 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

not heard of anywhere in the United States.  If you’re worrying about 20-minute parking for 42 
some people who have able legs versus people who are disabled [and utilize] walkers and chairs, 43 
the three restaurants that are down there, I think we should be addressing that issue.  Also, since I 44 
own Farmers Insurance down there, in front of my building – I’ve owned that for 25 years or 45 
longer; I don’t know how long – there was a parking spot that could be 20 minutes parking.  But 46 
when you had the highway come through, the state said you had to do certain things, and they 47 
made the cutouts toward my building.  If you look at the cutouts, a person could go right in my 48 
building, and the auto place had cutouts, yet they came down here and got their cutout moved 49 
three feet the other way.  If my cutouts, which you’ll see going into the building, were moved, 50 
you could pick up an extra parking spot instead of having no parking.  That hasn’t been 51 
addressed, but it could be addressed.  It’s only up to the Common Council, because they made 52 
that cutout after the state [inaudible] money for the auto place, and they cut three feet out.  I 53 
think we could get eight inches and we could have another 20-minute parking spot there or for 54 
the bike shop [or for] the barber shop or for anybody else.  But nobody ever seems to want to 55 
address that because certain people rule down there and it has not been addressed by the Council.  56 
I think taking any parking spots off for 20 minutes at this point, I’m giving you an option to that 57 
[and] a place to put a 20-minute parking spot.  And at the same time, I think at some point you 58 
should readdress the disabled [parking issue] … It didn’t do any good to put a disabled parking 59 
spot on Irvin Street because that’s too far for them to walk to David Reay’s or any other of the 60 
restaurants.  But you’ve done a great job with that.  Thank you.” 61 
 62 
Rhonda Waldera 63 
313 4th Avenue North 64 
Onalaska 65 
 66 
“I also work downtown.  I do try to walk to work every day if I possibly can, and I do park in 67 
those spots if I’m limping or I trip over the sidewalk like I did a couple of years ago.  I just don’t 68 
see how the 15-minute parking is going to benefit anybody.” 69 
 70 
Ald. K. Smith called three times for anyone else wishing to provide public input and closed that 71 
portion of the meeting. 72 
 73 

Consideration and possible action on the following items: 74 
 75 
Item 4 – Review and consideration, including public input, of additional fifteen (15) minute 76 
parking restrictions along 3rd Avenue North at 301 Main Street 77 
  78 
Jarrod noted parking in the downtown district is at a premium and said staff has examined 79 
several potential solutions – including 15-minute, one-hour, or two-hour parking – over the 80 
years.  Jarrod said, “A number of years ago, this spot was designated at the 3rd Avenue side of 81 
301 Main Street for 15-minute parking,” and he referred to a partial copy of the minutes from the 82 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
3 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

July 2 Board of Public Works meeting that were included in board members’ packets and include 83 
comments from Dean Dickinson, who owns the property located at 301 Main Street.  Dean and 84 
Bruce Barge – who owns Barge Nutrition & Supply, which is located at 305 Main Street – both 85 
expressed concerns related to parking in that area and requested an extra 15-minute zone.  86 
Adding one would mean there would be three spots instead of one.  Jarrod referred to Paul 87 
Pappas’ comments regarding Dean Dickinson painting the curb at that location and said city staff 88 
removed the paint so the spot was available for parking.  Jarrod said, “This issue has been on the 89 
agenda over the years a number of times.  It comes back every three or four years,” and he told 90 
board members he had received a letter from a tenant at 301 Main Street stating he/she wishes to 91 
see the 15-minute parking expanded.  In addition, Jarrod said the owner of Coulee Bicycle 92 
Company, located at 213 Main Street, had emailed him and stated he also favors 15-minute 93 
parking. 94 
 95 
Jarrod said, “When I look at this with the parking we have downtown, we’ve invested a lot of 96 
money through our Capital Improvement Projects, as you can see on Irvin Street, to expand 97 
parking in the downtown area.  I don’t have any specific use numbers of the 15-minute parking 98 
zone downtown, but I try to watch.  As I see going by, I really haven’t seen much usage of it, but 99 
that’s probably a good thing because that means that people are moving in and out of it.  If they 100 
are using it, they’re not parking there for long-term parking.  There are only so many spots 101 
within the front door of the various businesses downtown – whether it’s Pappas Insurance or 102 
Del’s Auto or David Reay’s or the dental clinic or Sue Kolve’s – those are all premium parking 103 
spots.  Looking at this from a staff standpoint, I don’t see a lot of reason for it.  I did talk to 104 
Police Chief [Charles] Ashbeck today and discussed it with him.  Being that he’s new, he didn’t 105 
have a lot of input.  The only suggestion he had was that if we did do 15-minute parking, we 106 
should only do it until 5 o’clock during the day because I think those businesses down there are 107 
only open until 5, and that would release nighttime parking for patrons at the restaurants.  But I 108 
think right now, I just can’t see why we would expand the 15-minute parking.” 109 
 110 
Motion by Mayor Chilsen, second by Ald. Wulf, to deny additional 15-minute parking 111 
restrictions along 3rd Avenue North at 301 Main Street. 112 
 113 
Ald. K. Smith said approval of this motion means parking will remain as-is, with one 15-minute 114 
parking spot. 115 
 116 
Ald. Wulf asked Jarrod for his input regarding Police Chief Ashbeck’s suggestion. 117 
 118 
Jarrod said, “I think with the one spot we have, just for ease of enforcement, I would probably 119 
leave it.  If you were going to move forward with three [parking spots] and take big a bite out of 120 
downtown parking, I think you would definitely need to address the timing of the 15-minute 121 
parking.” 122 
 123 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
4 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

Motion restated: 124 
 125 
To deny additional 15-minute parking restrictions along 3rd Avenue North at 301 Main Street. 126 
 127 
On voice vote, motion carried. 128 
 129 
Item 5 – Review and consideration of City-owned trees removed at 2253 Quarry Lane 130 
 131 
Jarrod noted a map of 2253 Quarry Lane has been included in board members’ packets and 132 
pointed out the three 14-inch diameter silver maples that were located on city right-of-way were 133 
given condition ratings of “good.”  Jarrod told board members city staff contacted the property 134 
owner after noticing the trees had been removed.  The property owner had hired someone to 135 
remove the trees, and Jarrod said Planning Manager Katie Aspenson sent the property owner a 136 
letter, a copy of which is included in board members’ packets.  Bluestem Forestry, Inc., the city’s 137 
forestry consultant, appraised the value of the three trees to be $5,992.68.  Jarrod noted Edward 138 
Hanson, the property owner of 2253 Quarry Lane, is attending this evening’s meeting, and asked 139 
Ald. K. Smith to allow Edward to present his side.  Jarrod told board members a similar situation 140 
had occurred two blocks away from the Hanson residence and said it has been several years since 141 
city-owned trees had been taken down to the amount that has occurred recently.   142 
 143 
Jarrod said, “I look at the appraised value, and I think that cost is probably going after the 144 
property owner a little bit.  From staff’s recommendation, if we look at it, I think somewhere 145 
having them replant trees during the city’s Urban Forestry Program Project that is bid out would 146 
be a good solution.  That is what we’ve done with other trees that have previously been removed 147 
within the city.” 148 
 149 
Ald. K. Smith invited Edward Hanson to address the board. 150 
 151 
Edward Hanson 152 
2253 Quarry Lane 153 
Onalaska 154 
 155 
Edward thanked the board for allowing him to speak this evening and said, “I know I have to pay 156 
something.  I can’t plead ignorance, because this doesn’t go in a court of law.  Back in 2017, 157 
Kelli [Tuttle of Bluestem Forestry, Inc.] was in front of my house with two people, and I think 158 
one was the Superintendent of Trees.  She talked to me and said, ‘Look at the roots in your yard.  159 
They’re going to go down under the curb, and they could compromise the sewer.  They have to 160 
come out.’  I said OK.  She said, ‘These are the worst maples people could ever put in.’  I waited 161 
for a year from when she was there in September until 2018.  I thought maybe it’s my 162 
responsibility to take them down, so I did.  I actually thought I was doing the city a favor 163 
because I didn’t know the ordinance, and that’s on me.  But I guess what I’m saying is, she listed 164 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
5 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

the trees as ‘fair.’  There was bark coming off a couple of them, and I think she priced them at 165 
prime trees – at least that’s what one of the people I talked to who runs a nursery [said].  He said, 166 
‘Not those trees.’  All I’m asking for is, I think close to $6,000 for trees that needed to be 167 
removed … Somebody had come by and put red paint on all three of them at the base of the foot, 168 
and no one touched them for a year.  So I do it in 2018, and then in 2019 someone sees that 169 
they’re gone.  I noticed the other day they were in our neighborhood spraying red paint, and I 170 
don’t know if they know the rules.  I think someone needs to either notify them by mail or put a 171 
note in our quarterly [bills] that we get for water and sewer saying the trees belong to the city.  172 
Don’t prune, don’t touch, don’t do anything.  If something needs to be done, you call this 173 
number and talk to this person and they’ll take care of it so there aren’t more people like me.  I 174 
don’t go through the ordinances of the city.  I think after going through this, I know why you 175 
have them, because it would be chaos.  But I think the amount of money for trees that needed to 176 
come down and were fair, at best, is quite high.” 177 
 178 
Ald. K. Smith asked Edward what he believes a reasonable amount would be. 179 
 180 
Edward told Ald. K. Smith he has never been in this position before and said, “I don’t know 181 
what it costs the city to have a crew come out and take them down.  I’m not sure what you would 182 
consider reasonable, or is reasonable.”  Edward also noted that before the school bus that comes 183 
through the neighborhood changed its route, the driver needed to move over to the left-hand side 184 
of the street because tree branches were striking the roof of the bus.  Edward also noted it was 185 
the same for FedEx and UPS drivers.  Edward pointed out the branches were leaning into the 186 
street and said, “That’s why I thought, why aren’t they coming to do it?” 187 
 188 
Ald. K. Smith said city staff believes $6,000 is a reasonable amount to replace the trees and told 189 
Edward that is why she had asked him what he thought a reasonable amount would be. 190 
 191 
Mayor Chilsen asked Jarrod if he could tell the board what the cost is to remove the trees. 192 
 193 
Jarrod asked Edward how long it taken the tree service to remove the trees, and he estimated that 194 
city staff could remove the trees in three hours, or one hour per tree. 195 
 196 
Edward said the tree service had removed the trees in 90 minutes and noted the employees had 197 
spent most of their time sweeping up bark. 198 
 199 
Fred asked Edward if the tree service had removed the stumps or if they still are present. 200 
 201 
Edward told Fred the stumps also had been removed. 202 
 203 
Ald. Wulf said she always is saddened to learn trees have been removed, and also that she 204 
sympathizes with Edward.  Ald. Wulf noted she had spoken with City Attorney Amanda Jackson 205 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
6 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

about this situation, and Amanda said she would be speaking with both Jarrod and Katie.  Ald. 206 
Wulf said she spoken with Amanda about how situations such as this one can be prevented in the 207 
future, and she told board members she had suggested perhaps including information in the 208 
quarterly water bills.  Ald. Wulf said she believes current city ordinances state the city may fine 209 
citizens for removing city-owned trees.  Ald. Wulf also referred to Ordinance 6-4-14, which 210 
states the city may cite anywhere from $50 to $500 per tree for contractors who remove trees.  211 
Ald. Wulf said, “The one thing I’m going to take a stand on is, going forward, since we’re doing 212 
a recodification of our city ordinances, is that I want to start having ordinances and keep 213 
ordinances on our books if we’re willing to enforce them.  And if we’re not willing to enforce 214 
them, I don’t know why we have them on our books.  I do know that we had a situation the last 215 
year before I was on Board of Public Works this Council year … This is a similar situation, if I 216 
remember correctly.  I kind of feel like a precedent was already set with how we were going to 217 
handle this going forward, if it happened again.” 218 
 219 
Jarrod explained that in the previous instance, the city had opted to have new trees planted, and 220 
he noted the city had five new trees at the city’s rate in its urban forestry project.  Jarrod said he 221 
believes each tree had cost $400 as the restitution was $2,000 for five trees.  Jarrod noted the 222 
trees were replanted and said the city is attempting to reach the point where it has another tree to 223 
plant in the place of the one that was removed. 224 
 225 
Ald. Wulf said she assumes the trees are considerably smaller in size. 226 
 227 
Jarrod said the trees are 2½-inch caliper trees. 228 
 229 
Fred told Jarrod it was his understanding the property owner had had to make a donation that 230 
was considerably higher than the figure he had stated.  Fred told board members he will look for 231 
the amount and excused himself. 232 
 233 
City Administrator Rindfleisch told board members he is only learning of the red paint placed on 234 
the trees this evening, and he asked Jarrod to clarify this. 235 
 236 
Jarrod said that while he does not have anything with him that would dispute what Edward had 237 
told the board, he also said he does not believe city staff members had ever given any indication 238 
they planned to remove the trees. 239 
 240 
Edward’s comments were inaudible on the recording. 241 
 242 
Jarrod said the city staff member who paints the trees had brought to his attention the trees had 243 
been removed.  Jarrod further stated the employee was surprised to see that they had been 244 
removed, and he noted he and the employee are the only two city staff members who have 245 
painted trees within the last 10 years. 246 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
7 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

 247 
Edward told Jarrod he had seen red marks on the trees and noted those marks had been on the 248 
trees for one year until he had them removed. 249 
 250 
Jarrod said, “As far as I know, there are no red marks on the trees.  That’s my understanding.  I 251 
did not specifically ask staff that because I didn’t know that, but I know the staff member who 252 
brought it to our attention is the same staff member who just painted all the rest of the trees.  I 253 
find it hard to believe he would have painted it and brought it to our attention why the tree was 254 
taken out.”  Jarrod noted the trees had been rated as ‘good,’ or one rating below ‘excellent,’ and 255 
he also noted they had scores of 80 to 85 out of a possible 100.  Jarrod noted inventory had been 256 
completed in 2017, and he said silver maples typically are not the type of trees the city would 257 
introduce into a boulevard as they have shallow roots that, over time, will cause problems.  258 
However, Jarrod also said the silver maples were mature trees that offered benefits to the city in 259 
the boulevard. 260 
 261 
Edward said he believes only two silver maples remain on Quarry Lane, noting the wind blows 262 
them over.  Edward also noted he has lost nine trees, including the three silver maples, on his 263 
property and reiterated the wind can wreak havoc. 264 
 265 
Jarrod said, “Probably all the more reason we should have left these, because they were still 266 
standing.” 267 
 268 
Edward returned to Ald. K. Smith’s question regarding what he believes is a reasonable amount 269 
to pay for the three trees he had had removed, and said the cost to install a solid tree from a 270 
nursery is approximately $300. 271 
 272 
Jarrod noted the cost to install a 2½-inch caliper tree includes excavation and adding mulch.  273 
Jarrod also noted the trees have a one-year guarantee, and he said one may purchase from a 274 
nursery the same tree the city purchases for approximately $250.  Jarrod pointed out there are 275 
significant labor costs included with installing a tree. 276 
 277 
Edward noted his neighbor had lost two trees and told Jarrod it had taken the contractor 278 
approximately 40 minutes for the two new trees to be planted.  Edward also noted the contractor 279 
had utilized a backhoe. 280 
 281 
Jarrod told Edward the city contractor utilizes a similar method. 282 
 283 
Ald. Wulf noted Kelli Tuttle of Bluestem Forestry, Inc. is not a City of Onalaska employee and 284 
told Edward that Kelli’s comments do not represent the city. 285 
 286 
City Administrator Rindfleisch referred to Katie’s memo included in board members’ packets 287 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
8 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

and noted the trees that were removed were considered to be in ‘fair’ condition in 2017 by 288 
Bluestem Forestry, Inc.  City Administrator Rindfleisch pointed out the difference in the 289 
methodology is the origin of the $5,992.68, meaning full replacement of the existing trees with 290 
the same caliper, age, and size. 291 
 292 
Fred confirmed Jarrod’s earlier statement that the homeowner who was involved in a similar 293 
situation had paid $2,000 for five trees. 294 
 295 
Jarrod noted the city’s trees range in cost from $350 to $425. 296 
 297 
Ald. K. Smith asked if three trees would be planted in the boulevard. 298 
 299 
Jarrod said city staff would work with Edward and told Ald. K. Smith staff would find another 300 
location for the other one to two trees if Edward did not want all three. 301 
 302 
Edward said he would like to have two trees planted on the boulevard. 303 
 304 
Jarrod reiterated city staff would work with Edward and plant two trees on the boulevard, and 305 
plant the third tree in another location. 306 
 307 
Ald. K. Smith referred to the previous situation involving tree removal and said she believes the 308 
Board of Public Works had not made a ruling, but rather asked that city staff work with the 309 
homeowner to determine the cost based on the number of trees. 310 
 311 
Jarrod noted the Board of Public Works had worked with the homeowner regarding the type of 312 
species of tree that would be planted.  Jarrod also noted the number of trees and the cost had 313 
been forwarded with a recommendation to the Common Council. 314 
 315 
Fred asked if the board is considering replacing the three trees at a cost of $350 to $400 per tree. 316 
 317 
Motion by Jarrod, second by Ald. Wulf, to have the homeowner at 2253 Quarry Lane replace 318 
three trees at a cost of $400 per tree for a total cost of $1,200. 319 
 320 
Mayor Chilsen asked if the $400 per tree cost includes labor. 321 
 322 
Jarrod said it does, and he stated, “We don’t want to be punitive here, but I feel we need to get 323 
the resource back that was taken.  And we need to have a reason that we don’t have rampant 324 
people doing whatever they feel they want to do to the trees in the boulevard.  A lot of times 325 
when we do discuss boulevard trees with property owners, we do not give answers they like to 326 
see.  The next item on the agenda is one of them.  We want to ensure that we protect our 327 
resources we have.  We have invested a lot of money in planting trees, which I feel gives a lot of 328 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
9 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

benefit to the city.  But we also want to protect that resource.” 329 
 330 
Mayor Chilsen expressed skepticism the $400 cost to replace a tree will prevent a situation such 331 
as this from occurring again. 332 
 333 
Ald. Wulf asked Jarrod and City Administrator Rindfleisch what can be done going forward 334 
about notifying the public. 335 
 336 
City Administrator Rindfleisch told Ald. Wulf it will be possible to place information on the 337 
city’s website, and he said he also will ask that it be added to all the city’s social media 338 
connections.  However, City Administrator Rindfleisch also noted there are ordinances in the 339 
books and said, “Not knowing about it isn’t an excuse.” 340 
 341 
Ald. Wulf said she would not be so inclined in the future to vote in favor such a motion if the 342 
public is informed of the city’s policy. 343 
 344 
Ald. K. Smith said the city also should be notifying contractors. 345 
 346 
Jarrod told board members he will work with Fred on including information in future water bills.  347 
Jarrod also noted Katie has been working with Planning Technician Zach Peterson on compiling 348 
a list of contractors and contacting them via mail to remind them what the city’s policy is.  Jarrod 349 
pointed out there is an urban forestry section at cityofonalaska.com, but he also admitted it is 350 
difficult to find.  Jarrod told board members staff will make every effort to inform the public. 351 
 352 
Ald. K. Smith asked Edward if he understands the motion on the floor. 353 
 354 
Edward told Ald. K. Smith he is having a difficult time hearing. 355 
 356 
Ald. K. Smith explained the board is considering reducing the fee to replace the three trees from 357 
$5,992.68 to $1,200.  If the board passes the motion, Edward will be in contact with the Planning 358 
Department and city staff will work with him regarding payment and where the trees will be 359 
planted. 360 
 361 
Motion restated: 362 
 363 
To have the homeowner at 2253 Quarry Lane pay $1,200 for the replacement of the three trees 364 
that were removed from the boulevard. 365 
 366 
On roll call vote:  Mayor Joe Chilsen – nay, Ald. Diane Wulf – abstain, Ald. Kim Smith – aye, 367 
City Engineer Jarrod Holter – aye, Financial Services Director/Treasurer Fred Buehler – aye.  368 
Motion passes, 3-1, with one abstention. 369 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
10 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

 370 
Item 6 – Review and consideration of sidewalk damage caused by City-owned trees at 2010 371 
Esther Drive 372 
 373 
Jarrod told board members Francis Spindler, the property owner at 2010 Esther Drive, was 374 
unable to attend this evening’s meeting due to a work commitment.  Jarrod noted a letter from 375 
Francis had been included in board members’ packets, as have the partial minutes from the 376 
October 6, 2015 Board of Public Works meeting when Francis addressed the board regarding 377 
sidewalk damage due to tree roots.  Jarrod read the following excerpts of Francis’ letter, which is 378 
dated July 19, 2019: “…we have lived at Esther Drive since 1991.  Since then, we have replaced 379 
two different sections of sidewalk twice – the last time only a few years ago.  Now we see the tree 380 
roots are lifting both sections again. … We again request the city remove either or both problem 381 
trees and correct the sidewalk unevenness at city expense.  As taxpayers, we should not be 382 
expected to continually pay for trees that we did not choose or plant.” 383 
 384 
Jarrod noted the policy was changed in 2015 to state if a city-owned boulevard tree was causing 385 
damage to a sidewalk, the city would pay 50 percent of the cost of the sidewalk repair and the 386 
homeowner would pay the other 50 percent.  Jarrod said, “Since we’ve been doing that the last 387 
few years, we’ve been using that rule quite often.  When we’ve been assessing, we’ve been 388 
having the city consume portions of it when we deem a city tree is causing the problem.”  Jarrod 389 
said that while he has informed Francis of the city’s policy, Francis stated via his letter he 390 
wanted this matter to come before the Board of Public Works.  Jarrod said he is seeking direction 391 
from the board as to whether its members wish to follow or alter the policy.  Jarrod noted the 392 
trees in question have a scores of 75 and 85, and they have diameters of 15 and 16 inches, 393 
respectively.  Jarrod also noted there are others trees along Esther Drive that are in fair condition 394 
(scores of 60 to 70) and not being taken down. 395 
 396 
Ald. Wulf asked Jarrod if the homeowner was responsible for paying 100 percent of the sidewalk 397 
replacement prior to 2016. 398 
 399 
Jarrod said that is correct. 400 
 401 
Ald. Wulf asked if the City of Onalaska had adjusted that percentage to 50 percent in January 402 
2016. 403 
 404 
Jarrod said that is correct. 405 
 406 
Jarrod asked Kevin how many sidewalks had sustained damage due to trees out of the 125 407 
sidewalk letters the city sent in 2019. 408 
 409 
Kevin said approximately one-half. 410 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
11 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

 411 
Jarrod said the city offered a credit and did not assess half the cost on half of the notices. 412 
 413 
Ald. K. Smith asked, “It’s once every seven years?  Or do you do it more frequently if there is 414 
damage?  We don’t wait until we get to that section?” 415 
 416 
Kevin told Ald. K. Smith staff will examine the sidewalk and attempt to address it that year if 417 
there is damage and it is reported to the city either by a citizen or another staff member.  Kevin 418 
noted the city is broken up into seven different parcels and said it is done on the calendar year.  419 
Kevin said, “We’ll be doing next year’s in the fall and sending out letters in the spring.” 420 
 421 
Ald. K. Smith inquired about the cost. 422 
 423 
Kevin said the cost is approximately $180 per a square of a 5-by-5 section, and he told Ald. K. 424 
Smith that is to both remove and reinstall. 425 
 426 
Ald. K. Smith asked if that is the full cost or the half cost. 427 
 428 
Kevin said that is the full cost, so citizens would pay $90 per section of sidewalk square. 429 
 430 
Jarrod said the contractor attempts to remove as much of the root as possible, if that is the cause 431 
staff finds.  However, Jarrod also said if a boulevard tree is healthy and growing, “it will be 432 
something where we hope that it doesn’t come back in two years.  We tell people in 10, 15 years 433 
we could have the same problem again.” 434 
 435 
Mayor Chilsen said he fears the city is “kicking the can down the road” if it continues to pay half 436 
the cost, adding, “I think we need some kind of definite solution here instead of when somebody 437 
complains, pay for half of it.  I don’t think that’s a good long-range solution.” 438 
 439 
Ald. K. Smith said it is her understanding that “it wasn’t when people complain.  It was when it 440 
was obviously caused by the tree.” 441 
 442 
Jarrod noted city staff makes the determination and said there is no complaint process.  Jarrod 443 
said the city assumes half the cost if staff believes a boulevard trees is causing issues with the 444 
sidewalk when it is marked.  Jarrod said, “We implement that unilaterally to all property 445 
owners.”  Jarrod pointed out property owners are responsible for 100 percent of the cost if the 446 
tree is located on private property. 447 
 448 
Fred said is comfortable with the policy the city established in 2016 and told Ald. K. Smith the 449 
board may make a motion if it is deemed necessary.  However, Fred added, “As far as I’m 450 
concerned, I think we have a very good system set in place.” 451 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
12 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

 452 
Ald. K. Smith said the board may proceed with the meeting agenda if its members feel 453 
comfortable with the current policy. 454 
 455 
Item 7 – Review and consideration of storm water ponding area at the intersection of Kyle 456 
Lane and Charles Avenue 457 
 458 
Jarrod told board members the Parks and Recreation Department had received an anonymous 459 
complaint that the area located at 2102 Kyle Lane is overgrown.  The individual who registered 460 
the complaint believed the area was a city park.  However, Jarrod noted the parcel never was 461 
utilized for that purpose even though it was platted as a city park when the parcel was platted in 462 
the township.  Jarrod said when the city assumed control of this area in the early 1990s via 463 
annexation and installed utilities in 1993, the low spot was utilized as a drainage area.  There 464 
currently are catch basins located on Charles Avenue and Kyle Lane that drain into this area.  465 
Over time, the water soaks into the ground naturally.  Jarrod said city staff mows a couple strips 466 
located along the city right-of-way; however, staff does not perform tree removal or maintenance 467 
within the wooded area.  Jarrod said, “From staff’s standpoint, it’s a natural area.  We use it for 468 
stormwater retention, and we would like to keep proceeding that way.” 469 
 470 
Fred asked Jarrod if it is a buildable and taxable parcel. 471 
 472 
Jarrod told Fred the city owns 2102 Kyle Lane. 473 
 474 
Ald. K. Smith asked Jarrod if the city would require a developer to maintain the parcel in a way 475 
other than being in a natural area if he/she owned it. 476 
 477 
Jarrod told Ald. K. Smith there are other sections of the Meier Farm area that are very similar to 478 
this parcel, which is why city staff mows along the edge of the road. 479 
 480 
Ald. K. Smith said it appears very similar on the back side of 2016 Kyle Lane and asked if it is 481 
kept in a similar manner as the adjacent property. 482 
 483 
Jarrod said it is, noting it would be difficult to ascertain where the ponding area is in comparison 484 
to the area located northwest of the driveway of the house located at 2016 Kyle Lane. 485 
 486 
Ald. Wulf asked Jarrod if this item had first gone before the Parks and Recreation Board. 487 
 488 
Jarrod said yes. 489 
 490 
Fred asked Jarrod if he may assume there is no refuse on the parcel. 491 
 492 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
13 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

Jarrod said city staff would attempt to perform maintenance if there were debris coming out of 493 
the storm sewer.  Jarrod also said he is unaware of any refuse on the parcel, and he told Fred staff 494 
could be directed to examine it. 495 
 496 
City Administrator Rindfleisch said the parcel is likely in its most natural state and noted it is a 497 
natural low, wooded spot.  City Administrator Rindfleisch noted the city has parks of similar 498 
nature in the area, including Meier Farm, and there also are trails and bluffs.  City Administrator 499 
Rindfleisch said it is not necessarily unusual to have a natural wooded area kept in its natural 500 
state. 501 
 502 
Ald. K. Smith said unless there are objections, she has the understanding it is the board’s 503 
position to allow 2102 Kyle Lane to remain a natural area and no action will be taken at this 504 
time. 505 
 506 
Item 8 – Review and consideration of intersection control at East Avenue and Riders Club 507 
Road 508 
 509 
Jarrod noted this item was referred from the August 6 Board of Public Works meeting and said 510 
this has been an area of discussion for several years.  Jarrod noted staff receives telephone calls 511 
regarding the intersection, and he told board members he had the items in the August 6 agenda 512 
from the work that was done as part of the design of the Riders Club Road project that was 513 
constructed during the summer of 2018.  Jarrod said, “Looking at the intersection from an 514 
engineering standpoint – traffic volumes, accidents – it was deemed that the two-way stop we 515 
currently have is working.  But we do receive a lot of input from residents that they’d like to see 516 
change.”  Jarrod noted First District Alderperson Tom Smith used to reside in this neighborhood 517 
and told board members Ald. Tom Smith has been receiving comments from the residents. 518 
 519 
Jarrod said he had asked Short Elliott Hendrickson look into some options for the intersection, 520 
including a four-way stop.  Bump-outs that would narrow the intersection and slow down traffic 521 
are another option.  Another option is a mini-roundabout, which is larger than a traffic circle but 522 
smaller than the roundabouts located on Riders Club Road and Sand Lake Road.  The 523 
roundabout would be a mountable roundabout, meaning semi trucks would ride over it and cars 524 
would go around it.  Jarrod said, “We were trying to find some options here besides a four-way 525 
stop,” and he told board members Police Sergeant Tim Berg had set up a speed counter and 526 
assisted IT employee Nils Housker with downloading the data.  Jarrod said city staff typically 527 
examines the 85th percentile speed and noted the traffic count was 40,000, and the 85th percentile 528 
speed was 33 miles per hour coming into the intersection.  Jarrod noted the speed limit is 25 mph 529 
and said, “With the size of the road, the straightness of the road and relatively no interacting 530 
traffic, I suspected it probably would have been in that range.  To expect someone to be going 25 531 
[mph] down East Avenue without a lot of police enforcement would be very difficult.  The road 532 
is built visually [so that] it is inviting to gain speed.  I did discuss this with Police Chief Ashbeck 533 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
14 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

today, looking at this intersection … [and] just looking at it, he could see the reasons why 534 
citizens would like to see a four-way stop. 535 
 536 
“Obviously, from a traffic engineering standpoint, I would like to see solutions that offer a way 537 
for traffic to keep moving.  I’m not a proponent of putting stop signs everywhere throughout the 538 
city.  Over the years, I think we’ve brought some forward and we’ve installed them, but it’s just 539 
a tough [question] of, where do you put them and where do you not?  Public comment should not 540 
entirely drive the installation of a stop sign, but we have received a lot of public comment here, 541 
and from the residents who live at the intersection.  We’re looking for direction on where we 542 
want to see this head. … We might as well make a decision one way or the other, because I don’t 543 
think it pays to keep bringing it back to the Board of Public Works.  We’ve exhausted all the 544 
information gathering we can.  I’ve found some different solutions and looked at different 545 
things.” 546 
 547 
Fred inquired about the cost of constructing a mini-roundabout, and he told board members he 548 
had envisioned new buildings being constructed along Abbey Road and the traffic that will occur 549 
as a result. 550 
 551 
Jarrod told Fred the cost estimate for a mini-roundabout is $186,000, an amount he said might be 552 
“a little bit light.”  Jarrod said he believes a more accurate estimate might be closer to $250,000, 553 
and told board members he agrees with Fred that the traffic count at this intersection will only 554 
increase with the addition of adding through traffic through Abbey Road.  Jarrod estimated 555 
another 350 units will be constructed along Abbey Road, and he said he does not see traffic to 556 
the YMCA decreasing, but rather increasing.  Jarrod said the north leg of East Avenue currently 557 
has approximately slightly more than 5,000 automobiles per day, which is the highest traffic leg 558 
of the intersection.  By comparison, the leg that goes toward the Omni Center has slightly more 559 
than 2,000 automobiles per day.  Jarrod said the fact a majority of the traffic moves from East 560 
Avenue to Riders Club Road and toward Sand Lake Road presents challenges in that there are 561 
several left turns coming from East Avenue.  Jarrod said that from a traffic engineering 562 
standpoint, there is sufficient cross-traffic that a four-way stop would likely function at this 563 
location. 564 
 565 
City Administrator Rindfleisch stated he believes the issue at hand is the speed versus the traffic 566 
crossing, noting the residents in the neighborhood have said the automobiles are traveling at a 567 
high rate of speed, especially driving south through that intersection on East Avenue.  City 568 
Administrator Rindfleisch said the speed-related concerns are related to pedestrians and bicycles, 569 
and that, “My concern is that if we’re trying to reduce speed, it’s actually away from the 570 
intersection.  The fact there is a four-way stop that doesn’t have a lot of cross traffic really won’t 571 
reduce that speed throughout.  I think East Avenue is built substantially wide for future plans – at 572 
one time, for the school being built over there.  It was appropriately built for traffic that, 573 
unfortunately, the one place we have a school that could have been built and had the proper road 574 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
15 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

is the one place we don’t have a school.  I would suggest that road-narrowing features – parking, 575 
bike lanes, striping – narrowing down East Avenue probably would do more for reducing the 576 
traffic. … I think traffic-calming measures probably would be the most [cost-efficient] solution 577 
to reduce speeds over there.  And I think a reduced speed when they approach the cross section 578 
of Riders Club would help. 579 
 580 
My concern with a four-way stop there is, especially if traffic is mostly trying to go left onto 581 
Riders Club or south continuing toward downtown, a four-way stop would increase the risks to 582 
pedestrians and bicyclists there.  When cars are in a hurry – I’m not a traffic engineer; this is my 583 
gut reaction – cars at a four-way stop are looking for other vehicles and not looking for 584 
pedestrians, or they’re going to try to get ahead of the pedestrians.  I think you’d likely see an 585 
increase in bike and pedestrian accidents with vehicles at a four-way stop.  But that’s the policy 586 
recommendation.  There is also the politics involved, and there’s certainly a large number of 587 
residents that this has been an issue for decades.  There may be other solutions you can look at.  588 
If a four-way stop goes in, that may be the most cost-effective.  I’m just concerned that it doesn’t 589 
provide the solution we’re all hoping it would.” 590 
 591 
Ald. Wulf said she also cannot at this time support installing a four-way stop at the intersection, 592 
and she stated, “It does feel like you’re traveling down a speedway because it is so wide.  I’ve 593 
been here long enough to understand why it was built that way.  I would certainly entertain the 594 
possibility of restriping it, making it narrower.  I think that would be very cost-efficient.  I 595 
appreciate Jarrod presenting these options and the work that has gone into this.  But I know just 596 
looking at whether it’s the bump-out options or the mini-roundabout, I for one am looking at the 597 
possibility of throwing as much money as possible at Green Coulee and solving that 20-year 598 
problem first.  Every intersection is different.  I don’t this [intersection] is of less need, but I 599 
know we have a big issue at Green Coulee, and I just think that we can do some very low-cost 600 
fixes for East Avenue – at least attempt those first before we start throwing a lot of money at it.” 601 
 602 
Ald. K. Smith asked if there had been a four-way stop at that intersection in the past. 603 
 604 
Jarrod said he cannot recall one being at that location.  Jarrod told board members when Riders 605 
Club Road opened over to Sand Lake Road in 1993, the traffic that came through en route to the 606 
Omni Center would not stop.  Jarrod said that was when installing a four-way stop was first 607 
discussed, and he told board members 48-inch stop signs were installed.  Also, the words “Stop 608 
Ahead” were written on the pavement, a stop bar was installed, and reflective coating was placed 609 
on the poles holding up the stop signs. 610 
 611 
Ald. K. Smith asked Jarrod, “Do you already have all the information if we could move forward 612 
with maybe the narrowing and still keep the mini-roundabout on the table?  Or do you think we 613 
need to just decisively make a decision?  Or is deciding we’re going to do something enough for 614 
now?  What I’m thinking of is all of that construction going on on Abbey Road.  There already 615 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
16 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

has been more and more houses built out that way.  But with these apartments, that’s literally 616 
hundreds of people.” 617 
 618 
Ald. Wulf inquired about the completion date for the apartment buildings along Abbey Road. 619 
 620 
Jarrod said they are over a four-year period, noting one building is almost completed, the second 621 
building is halfway done, and construction on the third building is almost ready to begin.  Jarrod 622 
noted they are the smaller of the buildings. 623 
 624 
Fred inquired about the number of additional buildings that will be constructed. 625 
 626 
Jarrod said one building is nearing completion, one is halfway finished, and there are four more 627 
after that. 628 
 629 
Ald. K. Smith addressed multimodal transportation going through the intersection, noting the 630 
bump-outs created on Cass Street in the City of La Crosse has a bike trail that transitions into a 631 
curb. 632 
 633 
Jarrod directed board members to a diagram in their handouts showing a narrowing to the bump-634 
outs and noted a five-foot bicycle lane was included in the layout. 635 
 636 
Ald. K. Smith next addressed the mini-roundabout and said it was her understanding significant 637 
land acquisitions were necessary when constructing a roundabout.  Ald. K. Smith asked if a 638 
mini-roundabout would fit without acquiring additional right-of-way. 639 
 640 
Jarrod said additional right-of-way still would be necessary, “but it’s been reduced significantly 641 
from what we needed with the full-fledged roundabout.” 642 
 643 
Ald. Wulf said that while she does not oppose a mini-roundabout due to the anticipated increase 644 
in traffic from the Abbey Road apartments, she suggested perhaps moving it to 2021 Capital 645 
Improvements Budget. 646 
 647 
Jarrod said striping could be included in the city budget and told board members if they choose 648 
the bump-out option intersection, SEH has estimated the cost of that option to be $86,000.  649 
However, Jarrod said he believes bump-outs possibly could be constructed at a lower cost and 650 
noted SEH is proposing replacing all the pavement in the intersection.  Jarrod said the city would 651 
have to have a project not included in the proposed 2020 CIB if the board wishes to fund the 652 
bump-outs option.  The mini-roundabout could be shown as other intersection improvements for 653 
a future project – perhaps 2022 or 2023 – and staff could monitor how the intersection proceeds. 654 
 655 
Ald. K. Smith asked if a $20,000 budget was a realistic possibility. 656 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
17 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

 657 
Kevin implied it is not likely much could be accomplished with a $20,000 budget. 658 
 659 
Fred said he is not comfortable decreasing the intersection as it handles a considerable number of 660 
trucks. 661 
 662 
Jarrod noted the turning truck movements were included in board members’ packets and said that 663 
even without a bump-out large-scale trucks would utilize the entire intersection, which they 664 
currently do. 665 
 666 
Ald. K. Smith said that based on the discussions, board members wish to consider traffic-667 
calming measures for 2020, then look ahead into the future for a larger upgrade for that 668 
intersection. 669 
 670 
Jarrod said he can take that as direction. 671 
 672 
Item 9 – Review and consideration of purchase of vacuum street sweeper 673 
 674 
Ald. K. Smith noted this is a 2019 budgeted item. 675 
 676 
Jarrod said the 2019 CIB included the purchase of a replacement vacuum street sweeper, and he 677 
noted board members’ packets include a copy of a memo that outlines what staff has been doing 678 
with the purchase of a vacuum sweeper.  Jarrod read the following excerpts from his memo: “A 679 
new vacuum street sweeper was included within the approved 2019 Capital Improvements 680 
Budget at an amount of $250,000. … I have attached quotes for a new Schwarze and Johnson 681 
vacuum sweepers for comparison. … New sweeper units have been quoted in the $275,000 682 
range.”  Jarrod noted staff had examined a demonstration unit with a cost of $230,000.  683 
Schwarze and Johnson offered a $20,000 trade for the city’s current unit, thereby bringing the 684 
total cost to $209,955 if the city were to purchase the demonstration unit.  Jarrod said city staff 685 
approved of the demonstration unit they looked at.  This unit has 13 hours on the sweeping 686 
motor/system, and approximately 5,000 highway miles on the chassis. 687 
 688 
Jarrod referred to the back of his memo and told board members he had asked City Mechanic 689 
Jim Hansen go through and list the research he had performed.  Jarrod said staff had tested the 690 
Global V6Air, Johnston VT652, Tymco 600, Vacall, Elgin Crosswind and Whirlwind, Schwarze 691 
HyperVAC, and A9 Monsoon units.  Jarrod told board members Jim Hansen had called 692 
references and said staff recommends proceeding with the demonstration unit at a cost of 693 
$209,955. 694 
 695 
Motion by Jarrod, second by Ald. Wulf, to approve the purchase of a Schwarze HyperVAC 696 
vacuum street sweeper at a cost of $209,955. 697 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
18 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

 698 
Jarrod told board members staff has worked diligently on attempting to lower the price, and he 699 
noted a parts credit is included in the amount.  Jarrod also noted the street sweeper is listed under 700 
the 2020 CIB, and it was bonded as part of the mortgage revenue bond funds that were included 701 
in the approved CIB. 702 
 703 
On voice vote, motion carried. 704 
 705 
Item 10 – Review and consideration of end loader bucket repairs 706 
 707 
Jarrod said that while this is not a budgeted purchase, the current 1996 end loader was utilized 708 
this summer for pavement tear-off and Jim Hansen is attempting to make significant repairs to 709 
the end loader bucket.  Jarrod noted the proposed 2020 CIB includes the addition of a new loader 710 
and said staff intends to keep the 1996 model and utilize it for yard duties and loading of trucks 711 
during the winter months.  Jarrod said bucket repairs still are necessary and told board members 712 
he hopes some of the funding saved from the sweeper purchase – specifically, $4,681 – could be 713 
designated for repairing the end loader bucket.  Jarrod told board members that while he did not 714 
bring photographs with him this evening, he assured them there are physical holes in the end 715 
loader bucket. 716 
 717 
Motion by Mayor Chilsen, second by Ald. Wulf, to approve end loader bucket repairs at a cost of 718 
$4,681, with funding to be utilized from the Capital Projects Budget. 719 
 720 
On voice vote, motion carried. 721 
 722 
Item 11 – Review and consideration of Green Coulee intersection public information 723 
meeting, including possible recommendation on intersection control type with project 724 
timeline 725 
 726 
Jarrod told board members 70 of the 85 chairs in the room at the public information meeting 727 
were occupied, and he said the consultant had summarized the comments received at the 728 
meeting.  Those comments have been included in board members’ packets.  Jarrod said the 729 
public was asked the following three questions: 730 
 731 

• Are you supportive of intersection improvements?:  53 voted yes, 2 voted no. 732 
• Which type of intersection do you prefer?:  33 voted for a roundabout, 11 voted for a 733 

traffic signal, 10 voted for either one. 734 
• Supportive of city funding:  41 voted for the highest value regardless of cost and time to 735 

complete, 11 voted for the lowest cost and quickest to complete. 736 
 737 
Jarrod complimented the consultant for answering questions during the comment period, which 738 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
19 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

ran 15 minutes longer than what was designated.  Jarrod said, “The feeling I got after being at the 739 
meeting and listening to the discussion was the public that was at the meeting liked the 740 
roundabout option better.  But in the same token, a lot of the people there are getting frustrated 741 
with the length of time that we have taken to do something with the intersection.  They’re 742 
wanting to see something done as soon as possible.  If we move forward with a roundabout, it 743 
would be very difficult to construct it in 2020 due to the roundabout needing right-of-way needs.  744 
We’d have to negotiate right-of-way with property owners.  Longer timeframe of construction, 745 
and the DOT is going to be working underneath the bridges on Main Street next year.  746 
Coordinating that construction work will make it difficult, if we could even get it bid out and 747 
start construction by the fall of 2020. 748 
 749 
Tonight, we’re looking at which option to carry forward to the 2020 proposed Capital 750 
Improvements Budget and see how that funding progresses through the budget.  We do have, just 751 
for the sake of the budget right now, it does show the higher cost project.  The roundabout is 752 
shown in the proposed Capital Improvements Budget.  We’re just looking for direction on where 753 
to move forward.  Right now with the roundabout being through the public involvement process 754 
the higher public input project, that’s the one we’ve moved forward, staff-wise, to the Capital 755 
Improvements Budget.  We can leave it at that and see how the funding progresses and see where 756 
we’d like to go.” 757 
 758 
City Administrator Rindfleisch said staff is not necessarily looking for approval of the 759 
roundabout or the stoplights.  Rather, staff is asking which of these projects should ultimately be 760 
included in the 2020 CIB, and the full Common Council will ultimately decide the funding and 761 
the timeline. 762 
 763 
Ald. K. Smith asked if the Wisconsin Department of Transportation will need to know the city’s 764 
intentions regarding WisDOT’s reconstruction that will occur on the state highway. 765 
 766 
Jarrod said WisDOT will bid out the project in November with no coordination for installation of 767 
a roundabout.  Jarrod said, “If we would like to put it in next summer, it would take a lot of 768 
coordination and a lot of time and effort because there was no pre-coordination done.  We would 769 
probably have to stay outside their window of construction because ultimately they have to 770 
approve whatever construction we put in because we’re going onto their right-of-way, and it 771 
affects their maintenance of the signals.  If they have a project that’s already bid out, we’d have 772 
to really show we could not be a detriment to that project before they would approve our 773 
installation.” 774 
 775 
Ald. K. Smith asked what would happen if the city said the project would be done in 2021. 776 
 777 
Jarrod said WisDOT would have no objections. 778 
 779 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
20 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

Ald. K. Smith asked, “Everything lines up correctly?” 780 
 781 
Jarrod said, “Everything would work out.  The construction they’re doing is purely maintenance.  782 
They are purely fixing the poor joints underneath the highway, fixing the guardrail, taking out 783 
some of the deteriorating retaining wall blocks you see under there.  It’s a pure maintenance 784 
project.  There is no reconditioning of the road underneath there.  On [State Trunk Highway] 157 785 
they’ll be installing asphalt overlay.  But there would be no overlay under Main Street.” 786 
 787 
City Administrator Rindfleisch told board members there likely would be lane closures, which is 788 
why the city would need to coordinate with WisDOT.  City Administrator Rindfleisch said the 789 
city also will need to do design work, and some land acquisition would need to be negotiated.  790 
City Administrator Rindfleisch said he believes targeting 2020 for the construction of a 791 
roundabout is “very optimistic” and told board members he does not believe it is likely to occur. 792 
 793 
Jarrod said he agrees that it would be very difficult to construct the roundabout in 2020. 794 
 795 
Ald. Wulf said she believes the city needs to make the public aware that there are a number of 796 
issues that play into the construction of the roundabout.  Ald. Wulf said, “I think we all would 797 
like to have it done in 2020.  But if it’s not feasibly possible, it just isn’t feasibly possible.” 798 
 799 
City Administrator Rindfleisch there would be a significant amount of work related to the project 800 
in 2020 in anticipation of a 2021 construction date. 801 
 802 
Mayor Chilsen said the city will need to keep the public informed very well so citizens know 803 
they have not been forgotten, adding, “This is something that’s been a raw nerve for a long 804 
time.” 805 
 806 
Ald. K. Smith noted she had attended the public meeting and said she does not remember anyone 807 
telling those in attendance it will take the city one year of preparation for the roundabout. 808 
 809 
Jarrod said, “We were pretty specific during the public information meeting that the roundabout 810 
would be very difficult to build in 2020.  I think we conveyed that point fairly well.  I think if 811 
you went forward with a roundabout and authorized the design of the roundabout, I think we 812 
would actually hold another public information meeting once we had the design to the point 813 
where we had it pretty well locked down – maybe an 80 percent, 90 percent design.  We’d bring 814 
the public back in, show them what we have, give them the construction schedule, tell them 815 
where we’re at, and also see if they have any comments. … I think it would be another public 816 
information meeting next spring, early summer once we would get a design.  It would probably 817 
be summer.” 818 
 819 
City Administrator Rindfleisch said that while he agrees with Mayor Chilsen about informing 820 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
21 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

citizens about the city’s plans for the roundabout, there also are some aspects the city will not be 821 
able to share with the public, including the land acquisition with Kwik Trip.  City Administrator 822 
Rindfleisch said, “Part of the reason we went back to the drawing board here is the reticence of 823 
Kwik Trip to have the driveway closed or relocated as part of the stop lights.  We’re not only 824 
going back to the drawing board, but while we’re looking at increasing our costs, I think 825 
reaching out and working with Kwik Trip both on the land we would need to do the traffic circle 826 
and acquire additional right-of-way from them, it’s probably delicate.  But it still needs to be 827 
accomplished.”  City Administrator Rindfleisch said he is seeking a motion from the board 828 
regarding which option it wishes to pursue to drive further preparation for the 2020 CIB. 829 
 830 
Motion by Fred, second by Mayor Chilsen, to proceed with design and construction of a 831 
roundabout for the Green Coulee intersection to be placed in the proposed 2020 Capital 832 
Improvements Budget. 833 
 834 
On voice vote, motion carried. 835 
 836 
Item 12 – Review and consideration of Green Coulee reservoir public information meeting, 837 
including possible recommendation on reservoir type and location with project timeline 838 
 839 
Jarrod said the Green Coulee reservoir also was discussed at the public information meeting, 840 
noting there were 30 to 35 individuals in the audience.  Jarrod said the overwhelming consensus 841 
was to install an inground reservoir, noting the citizens at the meeting indicated they did not 842 
want an elevated tower in Green Coulee for aesthetic reasons.  Those who attended the meeting 843 
also expressed a desire to have a sustainable option, and Jarrod said he believes the inground 844 
reservoir completes that goal, noting it does not need to be painted, and also that maintenance 845 
costs would be lower once it has been installed in the ground.  Jarrod said it will impact the park 846 
as it will be necessary to remove a few trees, adding, “I think the site where we’re looking at 847 
siting it, I did not see any large amount of mature trees at the location that we would possibly be 848 
placing the reservoir.” 849 
 850 
Motion by Jarrod, second by Mayor Chilsen, to proceed with the Green Coulee reservoir being 851 
an inground reservoir, and also to bring back a design cost for final design from Short Elliott 852 
Hendrickson to be presented at the October 1 Board of Public Works meeting. 853 
 854 
On voice vote, motion carried. 855 
 856 
Item 13 – Review and consideration of an agreement for general engineering services with 857 
Short Elliott Hendrickson 858 
 859 
Jarrod said this is a general engineering agreement for miscellaneous engineering services, 860 
including water system modeling, intersection analysis, traffic analysis, and surveying services.  861 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
22 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

SEH would go to a project site if either Jarrod or Kevin were unavailable, and Jarrod said this 862 
would be for a not-to-exceed price of $5,000.  It is utilized as a time and material basis as smaller 863 
projects come up. 864 
 865 
Motion by Ald. Wulf, second by Mayor Chilsen, to approve an agreement for general 866 
engineering services with Short Elliott Hendrickson at a cost not to exceed $5,000. 867 
 868 
On voice vote, motion carried. 869 
 870 
Item 14 – Review and consideration of 2020-2024 Capital Improvements Budget 871 
 872 
Jarrod noted the board typically goes through the CIB at its October and November meetings, 873 
and he said board members are receiving it this evening so that they may begin reviewing 874 
projects.  Board members also may ask staff questions about projects.  A public hearing for the 875 
2020 CIB would be held in December, with the goal being the Common Council will approve 876 
the budget at its December meeting.  Jarrod said General Fund borrowing drives a majority of 877 
the CIB, and he noted there is slightly less than $10 million in requests ($9,908,000) in the 2020 878 
CIB.  Jarrod also noted the city typically bonds for $3.5 million.  Jarrod said the 2021 General 879 
Fund totals $11 million; the 2022 General Fund totals $7.5 million; the 2023 General Fund totals 880 
$9.6 million; and the 2024 General Fund totals $4 million.  Jarrod complimented the city’s 881 
department heads for submitting what they believe their needs are, and he said, “I’ve been proud 882 
over the last 10-plus years that we have invested in our Capital Improvements program heavily, 883 
and I think our infrastructure shows that.  I think if you look at our facilities such as the Omni 884 
Center, City Hall, lift stations, booster stations, street condition ratings, [and] water main 885 
conditions, we are in a very good spot, infrastructure-wise.  But I do not want to rest on that and 886 
not keep going forward.” 887 
 888 
Ald. K. Smith asked if the figures listed for the Green Coulee intersection improvements and the 889 
Green Coulee reservoir reflect an accuracy toward the motions that were made earlier this 890 
evening. 891 
 892 
Jarrod said Item No. 3 (“Green Coulee intersection improvements”) is $1.3 million for the 893 
construction of a roundabout, and $100,000 was added for final design costs, which were in the 894 
parameters the consultant provided.  Jarrod said he and Fred will add the total needed for 895 
borrowing and less other sources for Item No. 8 (“Green Coulee water high service zone 896 
improvements, Reservoir Design”) prior to the October 1 Board of Public Works meeting.  897 
Jarrod said the funds totaling $1.25 million already have been bonded and approved through 898 
mortgage revenue bonding process for the Green Coulee reservoir. 899 
 900 
Item 15 – Review and consideration of utility/street assessments and charges for 2700 & 901 
2660 Abbey Road, including payment schedule 902 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
23 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

 903 
Jarrod noted he had distributed a memo dated September 3 earlier this evening and said Richard 904 
Volden had brought in properties at 2700 and 2660 Abbey Road for annexation into the City of 905 
Onalaska.  Richard’s petition for annexation was received by the city in January 2019, with 906 
Common Council approval occurring in March 2019.  The final annexation ordinance went into 907 
effect May 2019.  Jarrod said the Preliminary Resolution for assessments for parcels within the 908 
city was placed on the December 2018 Board of Public Works agenda, and it was passed in 909 
January 2019.  The Final Assessment Resolution was passed in February 2019.  An ordinance for 910 
charges outside the city was passed in May 2019.  Jarrod said the Volden parcels had ended up in 911 
what he called “a black hole,” and he noted the annexation was too late for assessments, but was 912 
in process prior to the passing of the ordinance for project charges to be applied.  Jarrod told 913 
board members Richard is requesting to pay the charges for the utilities and street with the same 914 
conditions and timeframe as those who were assessed. 915 
 916 
Jarrod said, “[Richard] is not arguing paying any of the charges that were passed in the 917 
ordinance.  He’s just requesting that he gets the same 20 years to pay them at the same rate as the 918 
people who were assessed.”  Jarrod said Kwik Trip could pay equal payments at the interest rate, 919 
plus 1 percent payments over 20 years.  Jarrod noted Richard already has annexed and wishes to 920 
hook up to city water and sewer.  However, Richard is being told he must pay $10,000 before he 921 
may do so. 922 
 923 
Ald. K. Smith asked Jarrod, “Your staff recommendation equals what Mr. Volden wants?” 924 
 925 
Jarrod said yes. 926 
 927 
Fred said that statutorily, there are very strict guidelines that must be followed so that 928 
assessments may be placed on the tax roll.  Fred said he believes city legal counsel would concur 929 
that if Richard signs a waiver in lieu of a hearing and accepts the assessments, he would be in 930 
favor of giving him 20 years. 931 
 932 
Motion by Fred, second by Mayor Chilsen, to allow Richard Volden to pay the utility/street 933 
assessments and charges for 2700 and 2660 Abbey Road, as outlined, and also to allow him to 934 
enter into a 20-year installment for the assessments with the understanding a waiver would be 935 
signed in lieu of a hearing to accept the special assessments. 936 
 937 
Jarrod noted the assessments give the length for the bond issue and said if someone along Abbey 938 
Road wishes to annex, the $10,000 in water and sewer charges become instantaneously payable 939 
to annex and hook up.  Jarrod said it is difficult to get individuals along Abbey Road to whom 940 
the city has dedicated services to come into the city, and he said he does not believe the city 941 
should waive any fees.  Jarrod said he hopes to find a way to give these individuals some leeway 942 
on making a payment. 943 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
24 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

 944 
Mayor Chilsen asked if the city would make it immediately payable upon sale of the property. 945 
 946 
Jarrod told Mayor Chilsen that is the way the city operates with assessments and said he assumes 947 
the same procedure would be applied in this instance. 948 
 949 
Fred said it would be part of the agreement. 950 
 951 
On voice vote, motion carried. 952 
 953 
Item 16 – Pay Estimates:  Strand Associates, Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc., Mathy 954 
Construction, Gerke Excavating, MSA Professional Services, Olympic Builders, Fowler 955 
and Hammer, A-1 Excavating, HSR Associates, All-American Lumber, and any other 956 
contractor/developer  957 
 958 

BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS 959 
MONTHLY ESTIMATES 960 

 961 
September 3, 2019 962 

 963 
    Original 964 
    Contract   Change   Paid to  Due this 965 
Contractor   Amount   Orders   Date   Estimate 966 
 967 
1.  SEH INC. 968 
     Green Coulee Reservoir 969 
     Design 970 
     Estimate #7    $   25,000.00  $     -      $   14,734.93 $   688.27 971 
 972 
2.  DAVY ENGINEERING 973 
     French Rd. Booster Station/Crestwood Ln. 974 
     Design 975 
     Estimate #11    $   126,490.00$     76,010.00      $   207,175.18 $   5,785.39 976 
 977 
3.  SEH INC. 978 
     Abbey Road 979 
     Construction 980 
     Estimate #5    $   34,600.00  $     -      $   23,560.59 $   2,810.90 981 
 982 
4.  GERKE EXCAVATING, INC. 983 
     Abbey Road Project 984 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
25 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

     Construction 985 
     Estimate #5    $   1,536,651.19 $     -      $   939,216.57 $   343,490.21 986 
 987 
5.  OLYMPIC BUILDERS GENERAL CONTRACTORS 988 
     6th & Quincy Pumping Station 989 
     Construction 990 
     Estimate #5    $   989,678.00 $     -      $   319,376.70 $   87,495.00 991 
 992 
6.  FOWLER & HAMMER INC. 993 
     2019 Misc. Concrete 994 
     Construction 995 
     Estimate #4    $   109,838.75 $     -      $   47,500.00 $   13,015.00 996 
 997 
7.  STRAND ASSOCIATES INC. 998 
     6th & Quincy Lift Station 999 
     Construction 1000 
     Estimate #4    $   33,000.00  $     -      $   20,798.92 $   2,410.76 1001 
 1002 
8.  MATHY CONSTRUCTION 1003 
     2019 Pavement Project 1004 
     Construction 1005 
     Estimate #3    $   1,082,820.45 $     -      $   628,125.61 $ 81,111.14 1006 
 1007 
9.  MSA PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 1008 
     Green Coulee Intersection 1009 
     Design 1010 
     Estimate #6    $   91,458.00  $     -      $   42,360.09 $   2,071.85 1011 
 1012 
10.  STRAND ASSOCIATES 1013 
     Court St. Lift Station 1014 
     Construction 1015 
     Estimate #1    $   24,300.00  $     -      $   -   $   3,704.22 1016 
 1017 
11.  FOWLER & HAMMER INC. 1018 
     2019 Irvin St. Streetscaping & Paseo 1019 
     Construction 1020 
     Estimate #2    $   225,854.00 $     -      $   142,500.00 $   47,119.35 1021 
 1022 
12.  GERKE EXCAVATING INC. 1023 
     2019 Utility Project 1024 
     Construction 1025 



Board of Public Works 
of the City of Onalaska 
Tuesday, September 3, 2019 
26 

Reviewed 9/5/19 by Jarrod Holter 
 

     Estimate #2    $   1,287,302.00 $     -      $   253,214.67       $   180,776.35 1026 
 1027 
13.  ALL-AMERICAN LUMBER INC. 1028 
     Public Works Facility Addition 1029 
     Construction 1030 
     Estimate #1    $   1,155,183.00 $     -      $   -         $   137,618.14 1031 
 1032 
Motion by Mayor Chilsen, second by Ald. Wulf, to approve the 13 pay estimates listed on a 1033 
document dated September 3, 2019. 1034 
 1035 
On voice vote, motion carried. 1036 
 1037 
Adjournment  1038 
 1039 
Motion by Mayor Chilsen, second by Ald. Wulf, to adjourn at 8:20 p.m. 1040 
 1041 
On voice vote, motion carried. 1042 
 1043 
 1044 
Recorded by: 1045 
 1046 
Kirk Bey 1047 


